72506-8

#### NO. 72506-8--I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID GUTTORMSEN and TERRY GUTTORMSEN, husband and wife,

#### Appellants,

v.

AURORA BANK, FSB, a federally chartered savings bank; AURORA LOAN SERVICES, LLC., a limited liability company; NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC, a Texas Limited Liability Company, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, a United States government sponsored enterprise; QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, a Washington Corporation; HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc., a Delaware Corporation; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware Corporation; and DOE DEFENDANTS 1-10,

Respondents.

# I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants, DAVID and TERRY GUTTORMSEN (hereinafter collectively "Guttormsen") executed and delivered a \$200,000 Promissory Note secured by a residential Deed of Trust in favor of AIG Federal Savings Bank (hereinafter "AIG") as Lender, with Respondent, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. (hereinafter "MERS"), nominated the beneficiary (solely as nominee for AIG), and Stewart Title the trustee. CP 949-969. That much is clear. However from that point on, nothing is.

The Deed of Trust was recorded twice with separate recording numbers, with subsequent assignments and transfers of the note, deed of trust and successor trustees diverging between numerous entities with whom Guttormsen had never dealt. Compare CP 954-969 with CP 971-986. See also CP 991 and 993. These documents were inconsistently distinguished, tracked divergent recording numbers, successor trustees, assignments, competing beneficiaries and owners of the original debt obligation, yielding questions of fact regarding the true ultimate beneficiary, trustee, and owner of the debt.<sup>1</sup>

Eventually Respondent, QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON (hereinafter "QLS") issued a Notice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The flow of documents related to both recorded Deeds of Trust is offered at *Appendix "A"*. The trail of ownership claims is offered at *Appendix "B"*.

of Default on the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> while it had only allegedly been appointed successor trustee of the <u>Second Deed of Trust</u>. CP 1005-1006 and CP 1008-1012. Essentially, Respondents confused and conflated both recorded Deeds of Trust to foreclose one.

While the Notice of Default identified "Fannie Mae" as the "current owner" of the obligation, the Debt Validation Notice identified "Aurora Bank FSB" as the creditor to whom the subject debt was owed. Compare CP 1008-1012 with CP 1018. Moreover while the Notice of Default claimed the beneficiary had declared Guttormsen in default, there was no evidence that Fannie Mae either declared that default or otherwise assigned that function to any other named Respondent.

Pursuant to the provisions of Washington's Deed of Trust Act (*RCW* 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA"), which must be strictly construed in favor of the borrower, Guttormsen contested the non-judicial foreclosure of their home and sued for damages.

The DTA and the case law that construes its provisions outlines very specific requirements before a borrower's home can be non-judicially foreclosed. Under the DTA, only an eligible and duly authorized "beneficiary" may declare a default, *RCW 61.24.030*, or appoint a successor trustee, *RCW 61.24.010*. Only a lawfully appointed trustee has the legal authority to issue a notice of trustee's sale. See *Walker v. Quality Loan Service Corp.*, 176 Wn.App. 294, 308 P.3d 716 (2013) (hereinafter "*Walker*")

and *Bavand v. OneWest Bank FSB*, 176 Wn.App. 475, 309 P.3d 636 (2013) (hereinafter "*Bavand*"). Moreover before a notice of trustee's sale is recorded the trustee must have proof the beneficiary is the owner and holder of the promissory note. *RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)*. The trustee's duty extends even further to require that the information it relies upon to initiate and prosecute a non-judicial foreclosure is investigated and verified. *Lyons v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, ---Wn.2d---, 336 P.3d. 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "*Lyons*").

None of the foregoing statutory requirements were met in this case and there remained material issues of fact in dispute on summary judgment. Absent resolution of these factual questions, without dispute, summary judgment is inappropriate and the trial court must be reversed.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The trial court erred on March 28, 2014 dismissing by summary judgment Respondents, AURORA BANK, FSB, a federally chartered Savings Bank; AURORA LOAN SERVICES, LLC, a limited liability company (hereinafter collectively "AURORA"); NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, a Texas Limited Liability Company (hereinafter "NATIONSTAR"), FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, a United States government sponsored enterprise (hereinafter "Fannie Mae") and MERS and denying Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration of said summary judgment order on May 30, 2014.

Issues pertaining to this assignment of error:

1. These summary judgments of dismissal principally rely upon the Declaration of A. J. Loll. Does the A.J. Loll Declaration, and each of its factual claims, comply with the requirement of CR 56(e) that affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein?

2. Is the Declaration of A.J. Loll inadmissible hearsay by (1) failing to lay a proper foundation under the business records rule to admit attached documents and/or (2) testifying to events based on business records without offering the actual records?

3. Is the A.J. Loll testimony, insufficient, even if admissible, to support summary judgment?

4. Should summary judgment be denied absent providing Guttormsen the opportunity to depose A. J. Loll pursuant to *CR 56(f)*?

5. All Respondents rely on the Declaration of Ms. Herbert-West. Is her declaration inadmissible or insufficient under *CR 56(e)* for generally the same reasons as the A.J. Loll Declaration?

6. Is there evidence in the record that the DTA, as strictly construed against the lender, was violated because one other than the (a) true beneficiary of the Deed of Trust declared Guttormsen in default contrary to *RCW* 61.24.030, and/or (b) appointed a successor trustee contrary to *RCW* 

*61.24.010*, and/or (c) the lawful owner and holder of the obligation did not authorized the foreclosure?

7. Under the DTA, must the beneficiary be both the "actual holder" and the "owner" of the Note?

8. Is there undisputed evidence in the record that QLS had proof that the beneficiary identified in the Notice of Trustee's Sale was the owner and holder of the Note and Deed of Trust?

9. Is there undisputed evidence in the record that QLS adequately informed itself of the purported beneficiary's right to foreclose?

10. Is there evidence in this record, construed most favorably to the non-moving party, that the Washington Consumer Protection Act (*RCW* 19.86, et seq.) (hereinafter "CPA") has been violated?

11. Is there evidence in this record that Respondents have tried to collect an unlawful debt contrary to *RCW 9A.82.045*?

B. The trial court erred on September 10, 2014 dismissing by summary judgment all claims against QLS.

Issues pertaining to this assignment of error: Same as above.

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 26, 2006, Guttormsen executed a Promissory Note in favor of AIG, as lender and the party entitled to payments according to its terms. CR 949-952. The Note specifically defines the term "Note Holder" as

"anyone who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments under this Note." This transaction was purportedly registered with MERS by AIG under MIN No. 100372406022138868. Respondents admit that MERS never owned or held the Note, nor did Guttormsen owe MERS any obligation (monetary or otherwise), thus making MERS an ineligible beneficiary within the terms of *RCW 61.24.005(2)*. CP 894. *See Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter "*Bain*").

To secure repayment of the Promissory Note, Gutttormsen, as grantors, executed a Deed of Trust that encumbered their home dated February 23, 2006, naming Stewart Title Company as the trustee. MERS was named beneficiary, solely as a nominee for AIG, the Lender, and Lender's successors and assigns. Guttormsens' Deed of Trust was first recorded with the Snohomish County Auditor under Recording No. 200603230406 (hereinafter "First Deed of Trust"). CP 954-969. A second Deed of Trust was then wrongfully recorded against Guttormsens' property. CP 971-986. This second Deed of Trust was recorded consecutively after the first under Snohomish County Auditor Recordation No. 200603230407 (hereinafter "Second Deed of Trust"). The second Deed of Trust is apparently identical to the first Deed of Trust, but wrongfully creates a second lien against the property, thus doubling the amount of the security claimed by AIG. CP 971-986.

In response to a Qualified Written Request under *12 USC 2605(e)*, AURORA provided Guttormsen a copy of an undated allonge allegedly executed by AIG that purportedly assigned the Promissory Note to the order of HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc. CP 521-523 and 991. Through the same means, Guttormsen obtained a copy of a second undated allonge, purportedly executed by HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc., in blank. CP 521-523 and 993.

Although there is conflict as to the exact date of Fannie Mae's purchase of the obligation, evidence suggests that Fannie Mae purchased the subject obligation some time in 2007. Also See Declaration of Tim Stephenson, CP 610-642, 995-996. But see CP 1000. Evidence suggests Fannie Mae may be the current true and lawful owner and holder of Guttormsens' Note or the trustee/guarantor of the entity to which Fannie Mae assigned the obligation. CP 610-642, 995-996.

However, on February 19, 2011, Nancy L. Walker, in her purported capacity as Assistant Vice President of AURORA, executed a Declaration of Ownership (RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)) wherein she falsely declared and represented under penalty of perjury that AURORA is the actual holder of the Promissory Note. CP 998. She further falsely stated that the subject Note had not been assigned or transferred to any other person or entity and that she understood that the trustee foreclosing the Deed of Trust which secures the loan will rely upon her declaration before issuing the Notice of Trustee's Sale. Ms. Walker's assertions were false and known to be false at the time

she executed the Declaration of Ownership as she knew or should have known that the subject loan had been sold and/or assigned to Fannie Mae in 2007. CP 610-642, 995-996. Ms. Walker provided this false Declaration of Ownership with the specific intent to wrongfully facilitate a non-judicial foreclosure of Guttormsens' home and to make it more difficult for Guttormsen to identify the real party in interest with whom Guttormsen must negotiate for a loan modification. See Declaration of David Guttormsen CP 522. No direct evidence was offered on summary judgment to establish AURORA's status as an "owner", "holder", "servicer" or agent of Fannie Mae, entitling AURORA to initiate foreclosure.

On August 16, 2011, Regina Lashley, in her official capacity as a Vice President of MERS, executed and recorded a Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust from MERS to AURORA. CP 1003. Admittedly, MERS never held or owned the obligation. CP 894. It is significant to note that this Assignment of Deed of Trust purports to assign the Second Deed of Trust (200603230407) only. CP 971-986. No reference is made to the First Deed of Trust (200603230406). CP 954-969.

On June 13, 2012, Michele Rice, in her official capacity of Vice President of AURORA, executed and recorded an Appointment of Successor Trustee stating that AURORA was the beneficiary under said subject Deed of Trust and appointed QLS as the successor trustee. CP 1005-1006. This Appointment of Successor Trustee references the <u>Second Deed of Trust</u> (200603230407) (CP 971-986), but not the first. Stewart Title apparently remained the trustee of the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) (CP 954-969). No direct evidence was offered on summary judgment that AURORA actually possessed or owned the subject Note and Deed of Trust at the time it appointed QLS's successor trustee.

On or about July 13, 2012, Kristine Canonizado, as Assistant Secretary of QLS, wrongfully issued a Notice of Default on behalf of the "beneficiary." CP 1008-1018. It is significant to note that this Notice of Default refers to the First Deed of Trust (200603230406) (CP 954-969) - not the Second Deed of Trust. Although QLS was appointed successor trustee of the Second Deed of Trust (200603230407) (CP 971-986), QLS was never appointed successor trustee under the First Deed of Trust (CP 954-969). Moreover, the information contained in the subject Notice of Default is contradictory as to the true and lawful owner and holder of the obligation, under RCW 61.24.030(7). While the Notice of Default identifies Fannie Mae as the "current owner" of the obligation, the Debt Validation Notice identifies AURORA as the creditor to whom the subject debt is owed. Compare CP 1008 to CP 1018. Nowhere does the Notice of Default identify the "beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust. Moreover, the subject Notice of Default wrongfully states that the "Beneficiary has declared [Guttormsen] in default." CP 1009. No evidence was offered on summary judgment that Fannie Mae,

as purported owner, either declared Guttormsen to be in default or otherwise assigned that function to any other respondent herein.

On September 26, 2012, Brady Nichaus, as Assistant Secretary for NATIONSTAR, as alleged attorney-in-fact for AURORA, executed and recorded a second Assignment of Deed of Trust, purporting to assign to itself the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) (CP 954-969). CP 1020-1022. However, AURORA was never assigned an interest in the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) – only the <u>Second Deed of Trust</u> (200603230407) (CP 971-986). Therefore, AURORA had nothing to assign to NATIONSTAR. Curiously, the recording cover sheet states that Aurora is the Assignor and that Fannie Mae – not NATIONSTAR - is the Assignee. CP1020. No direct evidence was offered on summary judgment to establish NATIONSTAR's status as an "owner", "holder", "servicer" or agent of Fannie Mae, entitling NATIONSTAR to initiate foreclosure.

On December 14, 2012, Michael Dowell, Assistant Secretary for QLS, executed and recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale setting a trustee's sale of the subject Property for April 19, 2013. CP 1024-1027. This Notice of Trustee's Sale purports to foreclose the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) (CP 954-969). But QLS was only appointed successor trustee of the <u>Second Deed of Trust</u> (200603230407) (CP 971-986). QLS was never appointed successor trustee of the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) (CP 954-969). Again, the Notice of Trustee's Sale wrongfully identifies the

10

beneficiary of the subject obligation as AURORA and wrongfully declares that the beneficiary has declared a default in the obligation, in violation of *RCW 61.24.030*. No evidence was offered on summary judgment that Fannie Mae or any true and lawful owner and holder of the obligation either declared Guttormsen to be in default or otherwise assigned that function to any other Respondent herein.

As discussed below, while there are numerous issues of material fact in dispute, these undisputed facts are not: while AURORA was assigned an interest in the <u>Second Deed of Trust</u> (200603230407) (CP 971-986) and QLS was appointed successor trustee of the <u>Second Deed of Trust</u> (200603230407) (CP 971-986), AURORA attempted to assign to NATIONSTAR an interest in the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) (CP 954-969), that it never had and QLS issued a Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee's Sale to foreclose the <u>First Deed of Trust</u> (200603230406) (CP 954-969) that it was never appointed successor trustee to foreclose. No evidence was offered on summary judgment as to whether QLS ever investigated or verified these discrepancies or the information contained in its Notice of Default or Notice of Trustee's Sale.

Guttormsen brought suit on April 18, 2013, seeking injunctive relief, declaratory relief and damages for violation of the DTA, violation of the CPA and violation of *RCW 9A.82*, et seq.

11

All Respondents sought summary judgment of dismissal based entirely on the Declaration of A. J. Loll of February 27, 2014 (CP 842-877) and the Declaration of Sierra Herbert-West of July 31, 2014 (CP 340-346). The trial court granted summary judgment of dismissal to all Respondents in two separate orders, CP 7-8 and 14-15, based essentially on the same record and over Guttormsen's request to be provided an opportunity to conduct discovery under *CR 56(f)*. Although Guttormsen sought reconsideration of the trial court's summary judgment of March 28, 2014, that motion was denied on June 4, 2014. CP 9-11.

Guttormsen filed their Notice of Appeal on September 23, 2014. CP 1-15.

## IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

A trial court's summary dismissal of claims under *CR 56* is reviewed *de novo*, taking all inferences in the record in favor of the non-moving party. *State ex rel Bond v. State*, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 (1963) (hereinafter "Bond"); *Lilly v. Lynch*, 88 Wn.App. 306, 945 P.2d 727 (1997) (hereinafter "*Lilly*"); *Snohomish County v. Rugg*, 115 Wn.App. 218, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002) (hereinafter "*Rugg*"); *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC*, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) (hereinafter "Schroeder") (citing Dreiling v. Jain, 151 Wn.2d 900, 908, 93 P.3d 861 (2004)); Bavand, at page 485 and Lyons, at page 6. Summary judgment is only appropriate if there is no

genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Balise v. Underwood*, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963) (hereinafter "*Balise*"); *Schroeder*; *Bavand*, at page 485 and *Lyons*, at page 1147. The initial burden on summary judgment falls on the moving party to prove that no material issue is genuinely in dispute exists. *CR 56*.

If sworn statements on summary judgment are offered, they must be (1) made on personal knowledge, (2) setting forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and (3) showing affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated in the sworn statement. *CR 56(e); Rugg; Blomster v. Nordstrom*, 103 Wn.App. 252, 11 P.3d 883 (2000) (hereinafter "*Blomster*"); *Lilly.* 

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach but one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Rugg; Doherty v. Municipality of Metro*, 83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P.2d 1098 (1996). In reviewing the evidence submitted on summary judgment, facts asserted by the non-moving party and supported by affidavits or other appropriate evidentiary materials must be taken as true. *Bond; Reid v. Pierce Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). When there is contradictory evidence or the moving parties' evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented that the court cannot resolve on summary judgment. *Balise*. Based upon the foregoing and the documentary evidence that was before the trial court, particularly the Declaration of A.J. Loll (CP 842-877), the Declaration of Sierra Herbert-West (CP 340-346), the Declaration of David Guttormsen (CP 519-609), the Declaration of Counsel (CP 24-153) and the Declaration of Tim Stephenson (CP 610-796), there were genuine issues of material fact before the trial court inconsistent with any summary dismissal of Guttormsens' claims.

## B. <u>Declarations of A.J. Loll and Sierra Herbert-West are</u> legally insufficient to support summary judgment.

On summary judgment, Respondents and the trial court relied primarily on the Declarations of A.J. Loll and Sierra Herbert-West. However, the testimony of these individuals failed to demonstrate sufficient personal and testimonial knowledge of the facts they offered the trial court to support Respondents' contentions on summary judgment.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, no proper foundation for the admission of the documents offered by these individuals was laid under *RCW 5.45.020* and their testimony, based on reviewed business records not attached to their Declarations, was inadmissible. Accordingly, summary judgment cannot be based on this inadmissible

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