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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Grant of Summary Judgment to Respondents Was 
Proper. 

1. The Guttormsens Have Correctly Abandoned Their Pre
Sale DT A/Wrongful Foreclosure Cause of Action. 

The Guttormsens' Complaint contained a cause of action for 

wrongful foreclosure based on alleged violations of the Deed of Trust Act 

(DTA). CP 940-943. On appeal, the Guttormsens concede that under 

Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Servs., Inc., 181Wn.2d412, 417, 334 P.3d 529 

(2014), they cannot bring a damages claim for pre-sale alleged DTA 

violations. Brief of Appellants (App. Br.) at 41. 

2. Aurora and Nationstar Were the Deed of Trust 
Beneficiaries at All Relevant Times. 

The lynchpin of the Guttormsens' case against Respondents - that 

there is some question as to whether Aurora and later Nationstar were 

"beneficiaries" under the DT A (see, e.g., App. Br. at 28) - is fatally 

flawed. 

Under the DTA, the "beneficiary" is the "holder" of the obligation 

secured by the Deed of Trust, which in this case is the subject Note 
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evidencing the Guttormsens' loan. See RCW 61.24.005(2); CP 848. The 

UCC in tum defines the "Holder" of a negotiable instrument (such as the 

Note) in relevant part as "the person in possession if the instrument is 

payable to bearer." RCW 62A.1-201(2l)(A). A negotiable instrument is 

payable to bearer if, as is the case with the Note here, it is indorsed in 

blank. See RCW 62A.3-205(b ); CP 852. 

Under Washington law, the "holder" need not be the same entity as 

the "owner," and it is the holder that has the right to enforce the note, 

regardless of whether that entity also owns the note. Trujillo v. Nw. 

Trustee Servs., Inc., 181 Wn. App. 484, 326 P.3d 768 (2014) (beneficiary 

status is determined by the DTA and Article 3 of the Uniform Commercial 

Code (UCC))3; RCW 62A.3-203, Cmt. 1 ("The right to enforce an 

instrument and ownership of the instrument are two different concepts."). 

Aurora serviced the loan for several years before the Guttormsens 

defaulted on or about May 1, tOl 1. CP 844; see also CP 1009; 1025. 

When Aurora appointed Quality as successor trustee on June 13, 2012, it 

had physical possession of the Note, making it the holder. See CP 843-

3 Notably, Trujillo was modified on November 3, 2014 - after the Washington Supreme 
Court's decision in Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'/ Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 
(2014). Although Lyons "touched on the issue of 'holder' versus 'owner' for negotiable 
instrument enforcement, this case did not overrule Trujillo .... " Coble v. SunTrust 
Mortg., No. C13-1878-JCC, 2015 WL 687381, at *7 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 18, 2015). As 
correctly explained in Coble, "[b]ased on the current state of the Jaw, a note holder is a 
beneficiary entitled to enforce the note ... SunTrust is, therefore, a 'holder' and the 
beneficiary as a matter of law." 
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844; 457; 1005-1006. Thereafter, both servicing rights and physical 

possession transferred to Nationstar. CP 843-844. 

Thus, the evidence showed that Aurora and then Nationstar were 

unquestionably the respective "holders" of the Note, and therefore they 

were the respective beneficiaries of the Note. 

The Guttorrnsens attempted below - and attempt again now - to 

establish otherwise by offering a convoluted and confused argument that 

persistently conflates the concepts of "holder" and "owner" status. See, 

e.g., App. Br. at 2, 7-8, 9-10, 11, 29, 30, 33-38. But it is clear under 

Washington law that these concepts are not the same, as discussed above, 

and the Guttormsens' erroneous legal theory does not create a disputed 

issue of material fact. The Superior Court correctly dismissed all of the 

Guttorrnsens' claims to the extent they are based on the erroneous theory 

that the "holder" of the note must be the same entity as the "owner" of the 

loan. 

3. The CPA Cause of Action Was Properly Dismissed. 

Even under the Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc. decision on which 

the Guttormsens rely, to prevail on a CPA cause of action a plaintiff must 

establish: (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade 

or commerce; (3) a public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or 

her business or property; and (5) causation. 175 Wn.2d 83, 115, 285 P.3d 

128018.0003/6246998.3 9 



34 (2012). A failure of proof on any one of these elements requires 

dismissal of the claim. Sorrel v. Eagle Healthcare, 110 Wn. App. 290, 

298, 38 P.3d 1024 (2002). 

Whether the Guttormsens rely on their simplistic MERS-based 

theory of CPA liability or the actual events in the never-completed 

nonjudicial foreclosure process, the Guttormsens failed to establish all the 

essential elements of a CPA cause of action below, and cannot do so now. 

a. The Guttormsens Did Not Establish an Unfair or 
Deceptive Act or Practice. 

Likely because of the holdings of Trujillo and Frias, on appeal the 

Guttormsens rely primarily on the language in Bain to the effect that 

characterizing MERS as a beneficiary could "presumptively" meet the 

unfair or deceptive act or practice element of a CPA claim. See App. Br. 

at 41-42. The Guttormsens misread Bain,4 and their theory does not fit the 

facts of this case. 

4 The Guttormsens also misstate their burden on summary judgment, incorrectly arguing 
that they "needed only to allege facts regarding the fourth and fifth elements of a CPA 
claim." App. Br. at 43. It is black-letter law that a party opposing summary judgment 
must "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial," and "may not 
rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading .... " CR 56; Young v. Key 
Pharm., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-26, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Indeed, Bain itself holds 
that a borrower must prove each element of a CPA claim. See Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 119 
(CPA claim viable only if "the homeowner can produce evidence on each element 
required to prove a CPA claim"). In Bain, the MERS assignment suggested (wrongly) 
that MERS had no principal and was representing to the world that it was the beneficiary 
in its own right, which the Court in Bain found met the first CPA element. Id. at 116-17, 
119. But the Court did not hold that labeling MERS as an agent for a disclosed principal 
in a Deed of Trust was deceptive, because it is not. See Estribor v. Mtn. States Mortg., 
No. Cl3-5297 BHS, 2013 WL 6499535, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 11, 2013) ("The Deed 

128018.0003/6246998.3 10 



The Guttormsens admit that MERS was never represented to be the 

beneficiary, but rather was identified in the Deed of Trust as acting "solely 

as a nominee for AIG, the Lender, and Lender's successors and assigns." 

App. Br. at 6. And the Guttormsens do not allege that MERS ever acted 

or attempted to act as the beneficiary. The only action taken by MERS in 

relation to this matter was its execution of the CADT in favor of Aurora, 

which was recorded on November 30, 2011, and which references the 407 

Recording of the Deed of Trust. CP 1003. 

Moreover, although the Bain Court found that characterizing 

MERS as a beneficiary could presumptively meet the unfair or deceptive 

act or practice element, it was "unwilling to say that [characterizing 

MERS as a beneficiary] is per se deceptive." 175 Wn.2d at 117. 

Unequivocally, a plaintiff asserting a MERS-based CPA claim "must 

produce evidence on each element required to prove a CPA claim." See 

id. at 119. "Bain is clear that there is no automatic cause of action under 

the CPA simply because MERS acted as an unlawful beneficiary under the 

of Trust clearly states MERS is a nominee for the lender and lender's successors and 
assigns. It is unclear how actions within that capacity are unfair or deceptive."). Indeed, 
not only did Bain hold that lenders may designate MERS as their agent in the Deed of 
Trust, 175 Wn.2d at 106, the Court in Bain lacked jurisdiction to hold that a lender's 
designation of MERS as its nominee was unfair or deceptive because the certified 
question was limited to whether a CPA claim exists "if MERS acts as an unlawful 
beneficiary." Id. at 91; Kitsap Cnty. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 567, 577 (1998) 
(court lacks jurisdiction to go beyond certified questions). In Bain, the Court was under 
the impression that MERS had appointed the Trustee and had disavowed having a 
principal. No similar facts are alleged here. 
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Deed of Trust Act." Mickelson v. Chase Home Finance, 901 F. Supp. 2d 

1286, 1288 (W.D. Wash. 2012), ajf'd, 579 F. App'x 598 (9th Cir. 2014). 

In Bain, the Washington Supreme Court's decision hinged on the 

fact that MERS (as opposed to a loan servicer holding the note) was 

alleged to have appointed the successor trustees of the at-issue deeds of 

trust - which only a beneficiary or its agent is entitled to do. See 175 

Wn.2d at 89 (stating "[t]he primary issue is whether MERS is a lawful 

beneficiary with the power to appoint trustees within the deed of trust act 

if it does not hold the promissory notes secured by the deeds of trust."). 5 

However, in this case it is undisputed that Aurora, the noteholder at the 

time - not MERS - appointed Quality, the successor trustee. CP 1005-

1006. 

The Guttormsens' MERS-based theory fails for the additional 

reason that Aurora's authority to initiate nonjudicial foreclosure 

proceedings derives from its noteholder status, not from any assignment of 

a deed of trust. See, e.g., Trujillo 181 Wn. App. 484; Lynott v. Mortg. 

Elec. Reg. Sys., Inc., No. 12-cv-5572-RBL, 2012 WL 5995053, at *2 

(W.D. Wash. Nov. 30, 2012) (holding that "U.S. Bank is the beneficiary 

5 These were the facts in the parallel Selkowitz case, but in Bain, the Supreme Court was 
mistaken; in that case, IndyMac Bank, not MERS, had appointed the trustee. See Bain v. 
Metro. Mortg. Grp. Inc., No. C09-0149-JCC, 2010 WL 891585, at *l (W.D. Wash. Mar. 
11, 2010) ("IndyMac ... appointed Regional Trustee Service as the successor trustee 
under the deed of trust"). 
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of the deed because it holds Plaintiffs note, not because MERS assigned it 

the deed"). 6 

Indeed, a CPA claim based on MERS' involvement is not available 

under a Bain rationale at all where, as here, the holder's authority derives 

from possession of the note indorsed in blank. Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 120 

(mere inclusion of MERS in deed of trust is not actionable under CPA). 

Where, as here, authority to foreclose is based on possession of the Note, 

the assignment issues in Bain are simply not implicated. See Florez v. 

OneWest Bank, FS.B., No. Cl 1-2088-JCC, 2012 WL 1118179 (W.D. 

Wash. Apr. 3, 2012).7 

Finally, to the extent the Guttormsens' claim is based on the 

MERS-executed CADT, it fails because the Guttormsens are not entitled 

to rely on the CADT. Washington "does not require the recording of such 

6 Indeed, assignments are not even necessary to foreclose. Cora/es v. F/agstar Bank, 
FSB, 822 F. Supp. 2d 1102, 1109 (W.D. Wash. 2011) ("Washington State does not 
require the recording of such transfers and assignments"); St. John v. Nw. Tr. Serv., Inc., 
No. Cl l-5382BHS, 2011 WL 4543658, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 29, 2011) (same) (citing 
RCW 61.24.005(2); In re Reinke, Bankr. No. 09-19609, 2011 WL 5079561, at * 10 
(Bankr. W.D. Wash. Oct. 26, 2011) ("The [Deed of Trust Act] does not require that an 
assignment of a deed of trust be recorded in advance of the commencement of 
foreclosure."); Salmon v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. CV-10-446-RMP, 2011 WL 2174554, 
at *8 (E.D. Wash. May 25, 2011) ("there is no basis for the Court to find that the 
[borrowers'] rights under the First Deed of Trust were affected by the recording of the 
[MERS] Corporation of Assignment of Deed"). 
7 As explained in Florez by the same Judge who certified Bain to the Washington 
Supreme Court: "In Bain, the alleged authority to foreclose was based solely on MERS's 
assignment of the deed of trust, rather than on possession of the Note. Here, however, the 
undisputed facts establish that OneWest had authority to foreclose, independent of 
MERS, since One West held Plaintiffs' Note at the time of foreclosure." 
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transfers and assignments." Cora/es v. Flagstar Bank, FSB, 822 F. Supp. 

2d 1102, 1109 (W.D. Wash. 2011). Any such recording is for the benefit 

of third parties - not the borrower. Id. 8 And, as non-parties to the 

assignments in this case, the Guttormsens lack standing to challenge them. 

See Brodie v. Nw Trustee Servs., Inc., --- Fed. Appx.---, 2014 WL 

2750123, *1 (9th Cir. Jun. 18, 2014) (unpublished) ("The district court 

also correctly concluded that Brodie lacks standing to challenge the 

transfer and assignment of the note and deed of trust. She is neither a 

party to nor a beneficiary of the assignment and transfer.").9 

b. The Guttormsens Did Not Establish Injury or 
Causation. 

Even if there were a genuine issue of fact as to whether the never-

completed nonjudicial foreclosure activity amounted to an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice, summary judgment dismissal of the CPA cause 

of action was still appropriate because the Guttormsens did not establish 

that they suffered an injury proximately caused by this activity. 

8 See also In re United Home Loans, 71 B.R. 885, 891 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. 1987) ("An 
assignment of a deed of trust . . . is valid between the parties whether or not the 
assignment is ever recorded .... Recording of the assignments is for the benefit of third 
parties[.]"). 

9 See also Cagle v. Abacus Mortg., No. 2:13-cv-02157-RSM, 2014 WL 4402136 (W.D. 
Wash. Sept. 5, 2014), at *5 (stating "plaintiff lacks standing to challenge an allegedly 
fraudulent assignment or appointment of a successive trustee, irrespective of robo
signing"). 
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On appeal, 10 the Guttormsens claim that they sustained the 

following injuries compensable under the CPA: ( 1) the "threat of losing all 

of their equity in their property without compensation"; (2) a reduced 

ability to sell the Property after recordation of the DOT (which they note 

was recorded twice); (3) reduction in the equity in the property for 

purposes of borrowing against it; ( 4) damage to their credit; ( 5) a claimed 

inability to take advantage of the federal Home Affordable Modification 

Program (HAMP) and Washington's Foreclosure Fairness Act mediation 

program; 11 and (6) consequential damages consisting of "out-of-pocket 

expenses for postage, parking, and consulting an attorney[.]" App. Br. at 

46. 

Where, as here, plaintiffs claim an unfair or deceptive act or 

practice based on an affirmative misrepresentation, they must show "a 

causal link between the misrepresentations and the plaintiffs injury." 

Indoor Billboard/Washington, Inc. v. lntegra Telecom of Wash., Inc., 162 

10 The Guttormsens appear to have abandoned their claim below for emotional distress 
damages under the CPA. See CP 510-511; App. Br. at 41-47. As a matter of law, 
emotional distress does not constitute an "injury" under the CPA. See, e.g., Wash. State 
Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass 'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 318, 858 P.2d 1054 
(1993) (damages for mental pain and suffering are not recoverable for a violation of the 
CPA because the statute, by its terms, only allows recovery for harm to "business or 
property"); Stevens v. Hyde Athletic Industries, Inc., 54 Wn. App. 366, 369-370, 770 P.2d 
671 (1989) ("[A]ctions for personal injury do not fall within the coverage of the CPA."); 
White River Estates v. Hiltbruner, 134 Wn.2d 761, 765 n.1, 953 P.2d 796 (1998) ("[W]e 
note that emotional distress damages are not available for a violation of the CPA."). 

11 Plaintiffs make no such allegation in their Complaint. As explained above, Plaintiffs 
may not amend their Complaint through a response to a summary judgment motion. 
Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn. App. 454, 472-473, 98 P.3d 827 (2004); supra at 3. 
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Wn.2d 59, 83, 170 P.3d 10, 22 (2007). Critically, in this analysis, 

causation cannot be established "merely by a showing that money was 

lost." Id. at 81. For several reasons, under the undisputed facts of this 

case, none of these items are cognizable CPA injuries that were caused by 

the Respondents. 

First, the Guttormsens' undisputed failure to make the required 

loan payments is the proximate cause of each type of alleged injury, 

particularly with respect to Items (1)-(4). The potential loss of the

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